QA 12-6-91

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 12 1991

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By ~~Chief Deputy Clerk~~  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT WILLIAM PEOPLES,

Petitioner,

versus

CASE NO. 77,851

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON, PUBLIC DEFENDER  
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRYNN NEWTON  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER  
112-A Orange Avenue  
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114-4310  
904-252-3367  
Florida Bar Number 175150

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged by an information filed in the Circuit Court of Brevard County, Florida, with trafficking in 14 to 28 grams of Dilaudid and with conspiracy to traffic in 28 or more grams of Dilaudid. (R 593-594) He was tried by a jury on February 28 and March 1, 1989, and was found guilty of trafficking in four to 14 grams of Dilaudid and of conspiracy to traffic in four to 14 grams of Dilaudid. (R 588, 639-630) On April 27, 1989, he was sentenced to consecutive prison terms totalling 18 years, including consecutive minimum mandatory terms of three years and six years, and was fined \$50,000.00 for each count. (R 659-660, 662, 637-639)

The Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Petitioner on appeal. (R 642) His convictions were affirmed on February 28, 1991, but his sentences for conspiracy and trafficking were ordered by the Fifth District Court of Appeal to be served concurrently and the six-year mandatory term was vacated and remanded for imposition of a mandatory term of three years. Peoples v. State, 576 So.2d 783 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), reh. denied April 4, 1991. A notice to invoke this Honorable Court's discretionary jurisdiction was timely filed in the District Court on April 29, 1991. Jurisdiction was accepted by this Honorable Court on August 15, 1991.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 11, 1988, Pharmacist Jerome Nelson at Campbell's **Drug Store** in Rockledge, Florida, filled a prescription written to "Ernest Walker" for Dilaudid, Keflex, and Compazine. (R 418, 419) The pharmacist verified the prescription **by** calling the telephone number on the prescription which was answered as a "doctor's office," but he became suspicious because he did not recognize the patient's Cocoa Beach address. (R 418, 419) **Mr. Nelson** later identified a picture of Michael Anthony Virgilio as the "patient" purchasing the drugs. (R 381-382, 383, 400, 420-421)

On February 27, 1988, personnel **from** Campbell's **Drug Store** called Rockledge Police Detective Charles Crawford, who then watched the store **from** the shopping center parking lot **from** an **unmarked** police **unit**. (R 224, 225) Detective Crawford saw Petitioner use a pay telephone outside a lounge near the drug store, and wave to a man who was later identified as Tom Sawyer who then went into the drug store. (R 226, 227, 242) Michael Virgilio **then** entered the drug store where, the store owner said, he paid for a Dilaudid prescription and left. (R 229, 396, **397, 398**) Petitioner, **Tom Sawyer**, and Michael Virgilio were arrested as they **began** to drive **from** the shopping center parking lot. (R 230, **367**)

Detective Crawford had **traced** the telephone **number** on the February 11th prescription to a pay telephone in the lobby of the **Gold Key Inn** in Orlando, Florida. (R 223, 244-245, 328) **Tom**

Sawyer had a Gold Key Inn match book in his possession at the time of his arrest. (R 245, 319) **The car In** which the **three** men were riding had been rented by Tom Sawyer, (R 245, 249, 276, 277, 325) In the back seat police officers found a jacket, claimed by Michael Virgilio, with a bag in its sleeve containing pharmacy bags from three other drug stores, 19.8 **grams** of Dilaudid in three bottles, and some prescriptions that appeared not to have been passed. (R 231, 233, 237-238, 240, 241, 243, 244, 360, 362) **Rockledge** Police Officer **Ron Hart** said that Petitioner presented a Florida driver's license issued to **James Collins** from his wallet as identification. (R 368, 369, 370, 373) Petitioner testified that was not carrying a wallet and did not present the driver's license to Officer Hart. (R 450, 451, 453, 468, 469) The driver's license had been issued to Petitioner upon presentation of his brother's birth certificate. (R 445, 446, 450, 453-454, 464, 466, 467)

at the Rockledge Police Department, Tom **Sawyer** and Michael Virgilio told detectives that Michael Virgilio had been picked up hitchhiking. (R 247, 250, 292, 321, 323-324) Petitioner gave no statement. (R 247) Petitioner testified that he did not tell the police officers what really happened because they never asked him. (R 455) He told the jury that he had gone to Orlando with Tom **Sawyer** and Michael Virgilio **because Candy** Slimon, an attractive woman in whom he was interested, was going there with Sawyer and Virgilio. (R 444, 446) She **had** told him he would not get in **any** trouble. (R 444, 446) After the four had begun their



trip, Tom Sawyer kept: Petitioner in the dark about what was going on. (R 447) Petitioner said that he handled some of the prescriptions while he was in the car; his fingerprints were found on one of them. (R 461; 340, 347, 351)

Over Petitioner's objections, the State was allowed to play tape recordings made by Rockledge detectives of Michael Virgilio's calls to Petitioner's residence from the Brevard County Jail. (R 208, 209, 211, 212, 432-434)

Petitioner was not permitted to elicit from Tom Sawyer the fact that he had previously served twenty months in federal prison for possession of heroin and marijuana. (R 268, 269, 271-272) Tom Sawyer testified that he was introduced to the drug trafficking activities for which he was arrested February 27, 1988, by Petitioner. (R 273, 280) He was a furniture store manager and a Dilaudid addict whose role was to drive the car, drop off the "walker" who presented the prescriptions, and then Petitioner would notify the "phone girl" who he said in this case was Candy Slimon. (R 275, 276, 276, 326) Motel records at the Gold Key Inn showed that Candy Slimon had been registered there. (R 245, 253, 411) No evidence except Tom Sawyer's testimony provided any link between Petitioner and the "phone girl's" room at the Gold Key Inn. (R 245, 246, 412)

Tom Sawyer said that on February 27th, Michael Giordano, the "mastermind" of the operation, gave Petitioner the printed prescriptions to be used. (R 312, 322) He said that prescriptions were presented for Dilaudid, Keflex, and Compazine,

because the latter two were compounds for settling the stomach and were not used by addicts, so the transactions would appear legitimate. (R 278) He said they often hired someone from a soup kitchen or the Salvation Army to pick up prescriptions because he would appear more likely to be legitimately in need of Dilaudid. (R 280) He said Petitioner had the drugs purchased on February 27th in his possession until he saw that they were going to be arrested, and then he put them in Michael Virgilio's jacket. (R 332, 335)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: Petitioner's right to counsel during police interrogation **was** violated when Rockledge, Florida, Police detectives monitored and tape recorded telephone **calls** made by Petitioner's co-defendant **from** the Brevard County **Jail**, intended to obtain incriminating statements from Petitioner. Petitioner **had** invoked his right to counsel at the time of his **arrest**, so that the police **would** not have been able to continue questioning him **directly**. Their use of the co-defendant as an agent constituted **an** indirect continuation of their attempts to interrogate Petitioner. Petitioner's right to counsel during **this** interrogation had attached by virtue of his having **invoked** his right to counsel during initial interrogation by the police; **by** his having made **a** first appearance **and** retained counsel; and because the investigation had focused on him to the extent that the adversarial process had been set in motion even though no accusatory pleadings had been filed.

POINT 11: Petitioner was deprived of his right to effectively confront the primary witness against him when the trial court prohibited him from eliciting the fact of the State's main **witness'** **prior** convictions for drug dealing. The witness, the only witness who directly **linked** Petitioner to the conspiracy **and** trafficking activities in which the witness was involved, **was** **thus** able to convey the **impression** that he was an innocent drug addict who **was** drawn **into** the enterprise by Petitioner when in

fact he had engaged in **drug** trafficking prior to **his** alleged association with Petitioner. The **necessity** for producing certified copies of the **witness'** prior **convictions** was obviated **by** his admitting the convictions.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION TO **SUPPRESS** EVIDENCE OF TELEPHONE CONVERSATIONS BETWEEN PETITIONER **AND A CO-DEFENDANT** CONDUCTED UNDER THE DIRECTION OF POLICE **OFFICERS**, WHERE PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL HAD ATTACHED BY VIRTUE OF FLORIDA LAW AND OF HIS PRIOR INVOCATION OF HIS RIGHT TO **COUNSEL** DURING QUESTIONING.

The Rockledge Police detectives were unable to elicit any statements from Petitioner at the time of his arrest because Petitioner had invoked his **right** to remain silent and his right to confer with legal counsel. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966); Edwards v. Arizona, 451 US 477, 68 L.Ed.2d 378, 101 S.Ct. 1880 (1981); Amends. V, VI, XIV, U. S. Const.; Art. **I ss.** 9 and 16, Fla. Const. (R 12-13, 247, 477-481) After Petitioner had been released on bail, however, the police were approached by his co-defendant, Michael Virgilio, who volunteered to obtain incriminating evidence **against** Petitioner for the investigators. (R 214, 215, 216) Michael Virgilio, who **was** granted immunity for his testimony, testified that he **made** telephone calls to Petitioner's residence because he had spoken to Rockledge Police Detective Kenneth Woodasd **who** "**asked** me if I would cooperate **and give consent** to record the telephone conversations." (R 95, 96-97)

Petitioner, at the time of the telephone calls, was represented by counsel Bruce Raticoff; Michael Virgilio was represented by the Public Defender. (R 98, 600) Later Sam

Baxter Bardwell **was** appointed to represent Petitioner, who was found to be indigent. (R 616, 618) Bruce Raticoff continued to represent **Tom** Sawyer.

Mr. Bardwell moved to suppress the tape recordings made by Rockledge detectives of Michael Virgilio's calls to Petitioner. (R 12-13) The objections were overruled, and the State was permitted to play the tape recordings for the jury. (R 103, 208, 209, 212, 432-434)

Petitioner's objections to the tape recordings should have been sustained, and the **tapes** suppressed. In Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201, 84 S.Ct. 1199, 12 L.Ed.2d 246 (1964), **Maasih** had pleaded not guilty to a federal **narcotics** violation and had been released on **bond**. **While** he was out on bond, his co-defendant, Colson, decided to cooperate with government agents and allowed the installation of a radio transmitter in **his** automobile. **He** then held a conversation with **Massiah** in the car, during which **Massiah** made several incriminating statements, while a government agent listened over the radio.

Neither Petitioner nor Massiah were in custody at the time their incriminating statements were made; but, as the Massiah Court recognized, if the right to counsel during interrogation

. . . **is** to have any efficacy **it** must apply to indirect and surreptitious interrogations as well as those conducted in the jailhouse. In this case, Massiah was more seriously imposed upon . . . because he did not know that he was under interrogation by a government agent.

Id., 12 L.Ed.2d at 250, quoting 307 F.2d at 72-73.

The Massiah Court also recognized that the investigators in that case had a right to continue their investigation of the drug ring of which Massiah was believed to be a part, but said:

All that we hold is that the defendant's own incriminating statements, obtained by federal agents under the circumstances here disclosed, could not constitutionally be **used** by the prosecution as evidence against him at his trial.

Id., 12 L.Ed.2d at 251. (Emphasis in original,)

In State v. Wooley, 482 So.2d 595 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), the District Court affirmed a trial court's order suppressing statements and physical evidence:

Recently, the Supreme Court held that the Sixth Amendment is not violated whenever -- by luck or happenstance -- the State obtains incriminating statements **from** the accused after the right to counsel has attached. However, knowing exploitation by the State of an opportunity to confront the accused without counsel being present is as much a breach of the State's obligation not to circumvent the right to the assistance of counsel as is the intentional creation of such an opportunity. Accordingly, the Sixth Amendment is violated when the **State** obtains incriminating statements by knowingly circumventing the accused's right to have counsel present in a confrontation between the accused and a state agent.

Maine v. Moulton, [474] U.S. [159], 106 S.Ct. 477, 487, 88 L.Ed.2d 481 (1985) (citation omitted); ~~see also~~ State v. Douse, 448 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

Since there is substantial, competent evidence in the record to support the conclusion that the "State

'must have known' that its agent was likely to obtain incriminating statements **from** the accused in the absence of counsel," Maine v. Moulton, *supra*, 106 S.Ct. at 487, n. 12 (quoting U. S. v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264, 100 S.Ct. 2183, 65 L.Ed.2d 115 (1980)) and that the statements would be related to the charges for which the defendant had been arrested, the order on appeal is [affirmed].

Id., 482 So.2d at 596.

Under the **federal** constitution, therefore, the scheme employed by the Rockledge Police violated Petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to counsel if his right to counsel had "attached" at the time the telephone calls to his home were staged. Petitioner contends that under Florida's law, his right to counsel had fully attached **because** he had already appeared before a committing magistrate upon his arrest for the charges which **Michael** Virgilio was helping the police investigate. His rights to counsel and against self-incrimination were violated, additionally, because he had specifically declined to be interviewed by the police about these charges and had **invoked** his right to custody and **terminated** interrogation on the day of his arrest, (R 12-13, 247, 477-481)

**I. PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL HAD ATTACHED UNDER FLORIDA LAW.**

In this case, the District Court held that Petitioner's right to counsel had **not** "attached" at the time Petitioner was interviewed by his co-defendant acting for the police, and



acknowledged conflict with State v. Douse, 448 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

In Douse, the District Court stated that the Florida Constitution guarantees the right to assistance in all criminal prosecutions and that:

Rule 3.130, Fla.R.Crim.P. , in turn, states that the right to assistance of counsel attaches at least as early as the defendant's first appearance which should occur within twenty-four hours of arrest. Thus, in this case the incriminating statements made one day after Douse's first appearance were elicited after his right to counsel attached under Florida law.

Id., 448 So.2d at 1185; Peoples v. State, supra, 576 So.2d at 787.

The Douse Court had recognized that the defendant had no federal constitutional right to suppress his conversations with a co-defendant because his Sixth Amendment right to counsel had not "attached" at the time the statements were elicited, but found that Florida's law provides greater protection than its federal counterpart, noting that Article I Section 16 guarantees the right to assistance of counsel in all criminal prosecutions, and that Rule 3.130 provides that counsel for indigent defendants must be appointed no later than the time of first appearance, and that if the defendant has retained counsel, he must be afforded the opportunity and means to contact his lawyer and confer with him. Thus, the Douse Court found, the defendant's incriminating statements, made one day after his first appearance, were

elicited after his right to counsel had attached under Florida Law. See also, Sobczak v. State, 462 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), wherein the District Court found that even in the absence of a formal charge, a preliminary hearing, an indictment, an information, or an arraignment, the defendants were entitled to counsel at their court-ordered line-up because (1) Rule 3.130 provides that the right to counsel attaches as early as a defendant's first appearance and (2) Rule 3.111(a) provides that a defendant shall have counsel appointed when he is formally charged, or as soon as possible after being taken into custody, or upon his first appearance, "whichever occurs earliest." (Emphasis supplied.) And see State v. Bragg, 371 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979) (no right to counsel at a lineup that took place prior to the defendant's first appearance); and McHaney v. State, 513 So.2d 252 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (no right to counsel at lineup that occurred prior to the defendant's first appearance).

The citizens of Florida may provide themselves with more protection from governmental intrusion than that afforded by the United States Constitution. State v. Sarmiento 397 So.2d 645 (Fla, 1981); Amend. X, U. S. Const. To date, the voters have not repealed or modified Article I Section 16, **assuring** accused persons' right to counsel, as was done to Article I Section 12, to limit Florida citizens' protection against unreasonable searches and seizures to **Fourth Amendment** interpretations by United States Supreme Court. Rule 3.440, for example, still provides that a jury verdict in a criminal trial must be

unanimous, even though the federal constitution does not require it. See, e. g., Apodaca et al. v. Oregon, 406 U.S. 404, 92 S.Ct. 1628, 32 L.Ed.2d 184 (1972) (Sixth Amendment guarantee of a jury trial does not require that a 12-person jury's vote be unanimous).

The Florida Constitution and the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure have provided that Petitioner was entitled to counsel when he was interrogated by a police agent in the investigation of these charges. This Honorable Court: is asked to enforce this right.

11. AT THE TIME OF HIS INTERROGATION THE INVESTIGATION HAD FOCUSED ON PETITIONER.

The District Court in this case found that neither a first appearance hearing nor a non-adversary preliminary hearing pursuant to Rule 3.133(a) "is adversarial for purposes of attachment of the right to counsel." Peoples v. State, 576 So.2d at 788. The Sixth Amendment right to counsel arising from the adversarial process' being set in motion may attach, however, even though no accusatory pleading is pending when the investigation of the crime focuses on the particular person. In Escobedo v. Illinois, 378 U.S. 478, 84 S.Ct. 1758, 12 L.Ed.2d 977 (1964), the Court: wrote:

When the process shifts from the investigatory to accusatory -- when its focus in on the accused and its purpose is to elicit a confession our adversary system begins to operate, and, under the

circumstances here, the accused must  
**be** permitted to consult with his  
lawyer.

Id., 378 U.S. at 492.

There appears to **be** no question but that the interrogation conducted by Michael Virgilio at the Rockledge Police's direction was intended to elicit evidence to be used against Petitioner in this prosecution for the charges he had already been arrested for and for which he had already made a first appearance. The adversarial process had begun to operate.

### III. PETITIONER HAD INVOKED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

At the time of his arrest, Petitioner specifically exercised his right against self-incrimination and invoked his right to counsel, **so** that the Rockledge Police were unable to obtain **any** incriminating statements from him. (R 12-13, 247, 477-481) A request for counsel must be scrupulously honored. Arizona v. Roberson, 486 U.S. 675, 100 L.Ed.2d 704, at 714, 108 S.Ct. 2093 (1988). Because Petitioner had invoked his right to counsel, the police were constitutionally barred **from** interrogating him any further. Edwards v. Arizona, 451 US 477, 68 L.Ed.2d 378, 101 S.Ct. 1880 (1981); Amends. V, VI, XIV, U. S. Const. The Rockledge Police detectives could not have resumed their direct attempts to interrogate Petitioner following his request for counsel. Neither, the Supreme Court ruled in Massiah, could they do so indirectly.

In this **case** the District Court relied specifically on

Illinois v. Perkins, 495 U.S. —, 110 S.Ct. —, 110 L.Ed.2d 243 (1990), for its reiteration of the rule that "[a]fter charges have been filed, the Sixth Amendment prevents the government from interfering with the accused's right to counsel." (Emphasis by the District Court.) In Perkins, an undercover agent had been placed in the jail cell of Perkins "who was incarcerated on charges unrelated to the subject of the agent's investigation." (Emphasis supplied.) Justice Brennan concurred but noted significantly:

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