IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA OCT

OCT 2 1991 CLERK, SURREME COURT Βv. Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBERT PEOPLES,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 77,851

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT AND EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. TURNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 397024 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The district court's decision below **correctly** holds that pursuant to the Sixth Amendment, the right to counsel does not attach until formal charges have been filed. Since Peoples had not been charged when these statements were made, there is no Sixth Amendment violation in their admission in evidence at trial.

Even though not preserved at trial, Peoples' state constitutional right to counsel was not infringed. The right to counsel under Article I, Section 16 does not attach until the **person becomes an** accused under Article I, Section 15. Only after the prosecutor has made the decision to initiate formal charges can the person be "informed of the nature and cause of the accusation" and "furnished a copy of **the** charges". This court has held that the right to counsel does not attach until formal charges have been filed.

Contrary to the position of the fourth district, the postarrest rules of criminal procedure do not by their terms or history provide the right to counsel at some time earlier than the filing of charges. The post-arrest rules arise from the Fourth and Eighth Amendments and do not implicate Sixth Amendment rights, Entitlement to pretrial release and the availability of counsel in that determination is wholly separate from attachment of counsel for adversary judicial proceedings. These rules are nonadversarial. These rules "do not accelerate the time when the right to assistance of counsel **attaches** so as to prohibit fruther

- 3 -

police investigation utilizing surreptitious means to elicit the information. These rules merely specify the point in time in the proceedings at which the state pays for counsel for those who are unable to afford private counsel." <u>Peoples v. State</u>, **576** So.2d 783, 788 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). The fifth and first districts have reached the correct result on this issue.

Even if the tapes were improperly admitted in this case, any error is harmless beyond and to the exclusion of any reasonable doubt.

The trial court did not abuse its considerable discretion in disallowing defense counsel to question Tom Sawyer about an eighteen year old conviction because counsel did not possess a certified copy of the judgment of conviction. Any error is harmless in light of the other evidence before the jury concerning Sawyer's possible motive for fabricating testimony and his extensive knowledge of and participation in the drug trade.

POINT ONE

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THERE WAS NO VIOLATION OF PEOPLES' RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

A ter Petitioner had been released on bond but before the information had been filed, codefendant Virgilio telephoned Peoples and permitted the authorities to record their conversations. Peoples contends that the admission of these tape recordings at trial violated his Sixth Amendment right to counsel and also violated his right to counsel under Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution.

As related above in the statement of the case and facts, the sole claim at trial was that Peoples' federal constitutional rights had been violated. No mention was made of any Florida case, nor was the state constitutional protection invoked in any manner. Respondent respectfully suggests that the only issue on this point which is preserved for review is Peoples' Sixth Amendment right to counsel.

The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly held that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel does not attach until after the initiation of formal charges. A few months ago, the United States Supreme Court held in <u>McNeil v. Wisconsin</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 111 S.Ct. 2204, 2207, 2208-2209, <u>L.Ed.2d</u> (1991):

The Sixth Amendment...does not attach until a prosecution is commenced, that is, "'at or after the initiation of adversary judicial criminal proceedings-whether by way of formal charge, preliminary hearing, indictment, information, or arraignment." <u>United States v. Gouveia</u>, 467 U.S. 180, 188, **104 S.Ct. 2292, 2297,** 81 L.Ed.2d **146** (1984)(quoting <u>Kirby v.</u> <u>Illinois</u>, 406 U.S. 682, **689**, 92 S.Ct. 1877, 1882, 32 L.Ed.2d 411 (1972)(plurality opinion)).

*

*

The purpose of the Sixth Amendment counsel quarantee--and hence the purpose for invoking it--is to "protec[t] the unaided layman at critical confrontations" with his "expert adversary" the government, after "the adverse positions of defendant government and have solidified" with respect to a particular crime. Gouveia, 467 U.S., at 189.

Last term, in the case of <u>Illinois v. Perkins</u>, <u>U.S.</u> <u>,</u> **110** S.Ct. 2394, 2399, 110 L.Ed.2d 243 (1990), the Court again reiterated the rule that the Sixth Amendment applies only after formal charges have been filed. "After charges have **been filed**, the Sixth Amendment prevents the government from interfering with the accused's right to counsel. In the instant case no charges had been filed on the subject of the interrogation, and our Sixth Amendment precedents are not applicable." Id. (emphasis added, citation omitted). <u>See also</u>, <u>Moran v. Burbine</u>, 475 U.S. 412, **106** S.Ct. **1135**, 89 L.Ed.2d 410 (1986).

The actual formation of the attorney/client relationship does not in and of itself trigger Sixth Amendment protections. This precise argument was rejected by the Court in <u>Moran v.</u> <u>Burbine</u>, <u>supra.</u>, and <u>Maine v. Moulton</u>, 474 U.S. 159, 106 S.Ct. 477, 88 L.Ed.2d 481 (1985). In Moulton, the Court noted that

incriminating statements made after securing legal counsel but before initiation of formal charges were admissible because the Sixth Amendment right to counsel had not attached. In Moran, the defendant argued that even though he had not been formally charged, the Sixth Amendment nevertheless protected him because he **had** retained an attorney. "The right to noninterference with an attorney's dealings with a criminal suspect, he asserts, arises the moment that the relationship is formed, or, at the least, once the defendant is placed in custodial verv interrogation. We are not persuaded." Moran v. Burbine, 475 at **429**, 106 S.Ct. at 1145. The Court held that this U.S. argument was expressly rejected by precedent and "all but foreclose(d) " by the Moulton decision. Further, the argument is illogical.

> As a practical matter, it makes little sense to say that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel attaches at different times depending on the fortuity of whether the suspect or his familly happens to have prior retained counsel to More importantly, interrogation. the suggestion that the existence of an attorney-client relationship itself triggers the protections of the Sixth Amendment misconceives the underlying purposes of the right to counsel. The Sixth Amendment's intended function is not to wrap a protective cloak the attorney-client around relationship for its own sake any more than it is to protect a suspect from the consequences of his own candor...By its very terms, it becomes applicable only when the government's role shifts

from investigation to accusation. <u>Moulton v. Burbine</u>, 475 U.S. at 430, **106** S.Ct. at **1145-1146**.

The Court observed that even though the attorney's task was much more difficult once a confession had been elicited, the mere possibility that the encounter may have important consequences at trial is insufficient to trigger the Sixth Amendment. "As <u>Gouveia</u> made clear, until such time as the "'government has committed itself to prosecute, and...the adverse positions of government and deendant have solidified'" the Sixth Amendment right to counsel does not attach." Id.

In this case it is undisputed that Peoples had not been formally charged at the time that the conversations took place. Therefore, his Sixth Amendment claim **has** no merit. The District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, correctly interpreted this uniform line of precedent from the United States Supreme Court to determine that no violation of the Sixth **and** Fourteenth Amendment had occurred in this case.

Equally unavailing is his Fifth Amendment claim. <u>Miranda v.</u> <u>Arizona</u> 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1964), and its progeny apply only to custodial interrogation. Peoples was not in custody when these statements were **made**. <u>Miranda</u> warnings are not constitutionally required, but rather, are a safeguard against the possibility that the coercive circumstances of custodial interrogation might threaten the exercise of the Fifth Amendment privilege. <u>Michigan v. Tucker</u>, 417 U.S. 433, 444, 94 S.Ct. 2357, 2364, 41 L.Ed.2d 182 (1974). This purpose is not

advanced by application of the prophylactic rule to a person like Peoples who is not in custody. No reasonable person in Peoples' position would believe that he was in custody. Berkemer v. McCarthy, 468 U.S. 420, 422, 104 S.Ct. 3138, 3141, 82 L.Ed.2d 317 (1984) The telephone conversations were not conducted in an unfamiliar atmosphere or coercive environment. Minnesota v. Murphy, 465 U.S. 420, 433, 104 S.Ct. 1136, 1145, 79 L.Ed.2d 409 (1984). The mere fact that the purpose of the conversations was to elicit incriminating responses from Peoples does not trigger the need for Miranda warnings. Id. Of the record citations relied upon to support the claim that Peoples in fact asserted his right to silence, one is argument of counsel, one is the defendant's testimony which occurred after the tapes were admitted, and one is ambiguous at best. (R 12, 247, 477-481) Moreover, since he was talking with his codefendant, whom he had no idea was cooperating with the police, there was no coersion or compulsion to confess. Illinois v. Perkins, supra.

If Peoples is to prevail, it must be pursuant to his right to counsel under the Florida Constitution. Respondent contends that this issue is not preserved for review. At no time did his trial counsel invoke his rights under the Florida Constitution. It is well established that in order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the **same** specific **legal argument** must have been presented to and determined by the lower court. <u>Bertolotti V.</u> <u>State</u>, **514 So.2d** 1095 (Fla. **1987**); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, **412 So.2d 332** (Fla. **1982**). When an objection is made on one ground before

- 9 -

the trial court, no new or different grounds can be raised on appeal. <u>Steinharst, supra.</u> However, the state recognizes that the district court addressed this issue, and therefore, presents the following arguments.

Article I, Section 15(a), of the Florida Constitution states:

No person shall be tried for capital crime without presentement or indictment by a grand jury, or for other felony without such presentment or indictment or an information under oath filed by the prosecuting officer of the court...

Under the Florida Constitution, prosecutions or adversary judicial proceedings cannot commence until an information or indictment is filed. The **use** of the word "person" in section 15(a) is in contrast to the use of the word "accused" in Article I, Section 16. **The** right to counsel under section 16 does not attach until the person has become an accused under section 15. Article I, Section 16(a) states:

> In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall, upon demand, be informed of the nature **and** cause of the accusation against him, and shall be furnished a copy of the charges, and shall have the right to compulsory process for witnesses, to confront at trial adverse witnesses, to be heard in person, by counsel or both.,.

How can a person against whom formal charges have **not** been filed be "informed of the nature and cause of the accusation" and even more impossible, "be furnished a copy of the charges"? It is well established that only the prosecuting officer may initiate formal charges by way of information or grand jury presentment. <u>See, State v. Bloom</u>, 497 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1986). Therefore, only after the prosecutor has decided to file charges, to formally initiate judicial proceedings, that a "person" becomes an "accused", entitled to the umbrella of protections provided in Article I, Section 16.

This interpretation is not only in harmony with the plain meaning of the Constitution, it also comports with prior decisions of this court. In <u>Keen v. State</u>, 504 So.2d **396**, 400 (Fla. 1987), a confession was obtained even though Keen had not been taken before a judicial officer within twenty-four hours of his arrest. This court rejected the claim that the admission of this statement **was** barred due to a violation of Keen's right to counsel because "at the time the statement was made formal charges had not been filed against him and, therefore, adversary proceedings had not **yet** commenced." <u>Id.</u>, (citation omitted) See also, Perkins v. State, **228 So.2d** 382 (Fla. **1969**).

Even though the Florida Constitution does not support the contention that the right to counsel does not attach until formal charges have been filed and a "person" becomes an "accused", the fourth district held that the rules of criminal procedure provide the right to counsel at some time prior to the formal initiation of adversary judicial proceedings. The state suggests that neither the plain meaning of the post-arrest procedural rules nor their historical origin supports the claim that the sight to counsel attaches at first appearance.

The district court's decision below correctly states that Peoples had reached the point in Florida's procedure where he had been afforded first appearance under Florida Rule of Criminal **Procedure** 3.130, and a non-adversary preliminary hearing under rule 3.133(a). He had not been charged by indictment or Peoples v. State, 576 So.2d 783, information under rule 3.140. (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). The fifth district acknowledged 787 conflict with the decision in State v. Douse, 448 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), where a taped conversation between the defendant and a police detective which took place one day after first appearance was suppressed. The Douse court relied upon the first appearance rule, and held by a two to one split that even though the Sixth Amendment right to counsel had not attached because Douse had not been charged, Douse's right to counsel had "attached" under Florida's Constitution at first appearance. The fifth district held:

> We are unable to avoid conflict with <u>Douse</u>. The <u>Douse</u> court stated that the Florida Constitution guarantees the right to assistance of counsel in all criminal prosecutions. The court stated further:

> > Rule 3.130, Fla.R.Crim.P., in turn, states that the right to assistance of counsel attaches at least as early as the defendant's first apeparance which should occur within twenty-four hours of arrest. Thus, in this case the incriminating statements made one day after Douse's first appearance were elicited after his right to counsel attached under Florida law.

Id. at 1185. While the court cites article I, section 16 of the Florida Constitution in support of its conclusion, the words found there--"to be heard in person, by counsel or both"--provide no stronger rights than are found in the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution where an accused has the right "to have assistance of counsel for his defence." Furthermore, the word "attaches" does not appear in rule 3.130, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, notwithstanding the court's insistence that the rule Douse "states that the right to assistance of counsel attaches at first appearance " Id. (emphasis added).

Whether Peoples was represented by private or is public counsel irrelevant to the determination of when Peoples' right to counsel attached under Florida the Constitution. Clearly, a suspect has the right to counsel in any criminal proceeding at any time and, if entitled to appointed counsel, "when he is formally charged with an offense, soon as feasible or as after custodial restraint or upon his first appearance before a committing magistrate, whichever occurs earliest." Fla.R.Crim.P. Rule 3.130(c)(1) Flroida Rules of 3.111. Criminal Procedure, provides for the determination entitlement of to and appointment of counsel prior first to The above-cited rules do not appearance. accelerate the time when the siqht to assistance of counsel attaches SO as to further police investigation prohibit utilizing surreptitious means to elicit information. These rules merely specify the point in time in the proceedings at which the state pays for counsel for those who are unable to afford private counsel.

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